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ABSTRACT

A HISTORICAL REVIEW OF SELECTED PUBLIC
CPEN SPACES AND ADJACENT LAND USES IN
THE CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT OF DETROIT

by Richard Doughty Johnson

The arrangement of land uses is a basic urban
planning consideration, Often land uses are analyzed
within planning districts., One such common district
is a central business district., Within the Detroit,
Michigan central business district a variety of land
uses have existed for many years,

Using a historical approach, this thesis
explores the relationship between public open space
and other land uses., The proportionate amount of public
open space diminishes as the district develops. The
physical characteristics of public open space have a
bearing upon how other land uses locate and arrange
themselves within the district,

Three types of source data were utilized (written
reports, maps, and personal observations) in order to
cover the range of time under consideration. A brief
explanation of the above generalization would suggest
the following., The early historical records of the
Detroit area settlement are not as well documented with

accurate maps as the later years., From approximately



Richard Doughty Johnson

1880 on the number and accuracy of the maps available
for reviewing is much improved over the earlier era
starting in 1701. In contrast to the early and middle
periods of time covered, the latest developments of
concern warranted actual field inspection trips.

The basic methodology in preparing the psaper
was to record and classify land uses throughout the
central business district into concise and meaningful
categories. The categories are commercial, industrial,
regsidential, utilities, institutional, and public. The
land uses were recorded on work maps covering numerous
time periods in the history of Detroit. From these,
several representative periods in time were chosen
which reflect the over-all district growth pattern.

Once the map series was determined to represent
the historic growth and change of the district, a
selection of representative public open spaces was
performed. The selection was based on several criteria:
(1) in existence for a sufficient period of time to
allow historic comparison, (2) a portion of the public
open space is reserved exclusively for pedestriasns, and
(3) the selection should represent the variety of
geometric shapes of space in existence.

Five of the public open spaces selected were
created as a direct result of the historic Governor and

Judges Plan. A sixth public open space (Clinton Park)
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is of slightly more recent origin, while the Civic
Center has been developed since World War II. All of
the selected public open spaces excepting Cadillac
Square are predominantly pedestrian oriented. Cadillac
Square 1s a boulevarded street with a sizable portion
of its right-of-way used by pedestrians. Geometric
shapes included are triangular, circular, and rectangular.
Historic changes of land uses were then observed
for all of the selected public open spaces and those
properties immediately surrounding them. Changes in the
vicinity of the selected areas were compared to the over-
all district changes.
The seleccted public open spaces have proven to
be stable in their respective shape and size. The
ma jority of the selected public open spaces were intended
as sites for public buildings. By the twentieth century
all but one of the public buildings which existed on
them had been removed, and the sites were used as down-
town parks.
In the early and developing years of the district
a variety of land uses bordered the open spaces. Today
commercial uses are the predominant ad jacent land uses,
Specialization within commercial land uses is typical in
the pattern around the selected public open spaces.
Campus Martius is bounded by financial institutions,

while Caepitol Park is bordered by retail commercial.
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Crand Circus Park is a focal point of numerous personal
services establishments, and Clinton Park was the

nucleus for governmental and hospital facilities.
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CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Statement of the Problem

The development of cities occupies space, and
most of the development includes buildings. As more
and more development occurs, less and less open space is
left within the city. "The great cities of the world
are remembered most for the quality of their usable
urban open spaces."l The decision to be concerned with
open space and more particularly the public portion is
that with the passage of time, this particular land use
becomes less abundant in proportion to the totally
developed urban area. Further, it is felt that public
open space may be a determinant type of land use, with
reference to other land uses which follow thereafter.

Public open space can typically be found in all
parts of the city. The determination to single out the
central business district area of the city for inquiry
is based upon the following pervading influences. The

aggregate committment of human resources, monies and

lThe Nation's Capital, A Plan for the Year
2,000, National Capital Planning Commission and The
National Capital Regional Planning Council, 1961, p. T75.




inherited economic investment in the central business
district precludes forsaking this portion of the city;
hence, adequate concern for the planning of same is
essential. John Rannells in an article published in
the American Institute of Planners Journal summed up
the need for concern succinctly by stating, "whatever
our intentions respecting the central business district,
we must recognize that it is a vital component of the

total urban structure."2

Objective of the Thesis

The objective of this thesis is to present in a
chronological manner a review of the land use changes
which have occurred within the City of Detroit, Central
Business District, and to trace possible relationships
between public open space land use and "other" land uses
within the district.

It is intended that the following questions will
be answered by the research and observations made during
the course of this study. Have the public open spaces
remained relatively unchanged, or are they unstable?
What."other" land uses have been attracted to the major
public open spaces? Are particular groupings of land
uses found to predominate adjacent to particular portions

of public open space?

2 John Rannells, "Approaches to Analysis," Journal
of the American Institute of Planners, Volume XXVII
No. 1 (February, 196l1), p. 17.




The author was attracted to the subject
originally as a 1ife long resident of the City of
Detroit. Later as an employee of the Detroit City Plan
Commission, he became more keenly aware of the physical
composition of the Detroit Central Business District by
daily encounters with the immediate environment. It has
been possible for the author to observe and record
events within the district which have taken place over

the past several years.

Methodology

Considerable portions of the information utilized
in this thesis were gathered and partially compiled while
the author was on the staff of the Detroit City Plan
Commission., Additional published and unpublished materials
were made available to the author by other Plan Commission
staff members at a later time to augment the initial data.

One other particular source of information was
essential to provide sufficient data to document the
changes which have occurred in the district. This source
is the Detroit Public Library system. Two divisions
within the system should be mentioned: the Burton
Historical Collection and the Municipal Reference Library
unit,

The primary procedure followed in preparing the

data, has been to review mapped sources of land use data



within the district. The second major source of land
use data are journals without maps. Land use changes
which ensued over a time period of approximately 150
years were explored. Some of the data presented herein
has been gathered through personal observation of the
district.

Determination of the precise area to be reviewed
was resolved by making reference to the definition of
the Central Business District as documented in the
Central Business District Technical Report #7, Series
Two of the Master Plan, 1956. The area as described
by the technical report definition, is bounded by the
encircling freeway system on the north, west and east
sides of the district and the Detroit River on the
south side.

After an extensive exploration of the subject
matter it became apparent that the amount of publiec
open space even within the central business district was
quite extensive. In order to better accomplish one
task the following determination was made: to be more
concerned about public open space used by pedestrians,
rather than by vehicles, consequently, emphasis is
placed on public open space other than streets.

By its very nature, a historic review may include
everything pertinent that has transpired up to and

including yesterday. A reasonable point in time must



be established for the purpose of terminating the
exploration process of the research. Such a date was
determined by the time lag between data being published
and being available for review. The latest published
data available for review of this particular subject are

dated in the year 1966.



CHAPTER II

BACKGROUND

Physical Setting

Detroit, the largest and oldest city in the
State of Michigan, is situated on a connecting link of
the Greak Lakes waterway system of shipping. The
connecting link, the Detroit River, lies between the
upper Great Lake of Huron and the lower Great Lake of
Erie. The initial site of the city proper is situated
on the only high bank of land between these two Great
Lakes. Travelling along the shore to both the east and
west marshy conditions were to be encountered. The area
was generally wooded throughout. The topography of the
area is relatively flat, the plateau being interrupted
at an average distance of 850 feet from the river's

edge where the land slopes down to the water.

Inhabitants ,

The site of Detroit was initially inhabited by
several different tribes of Indians. It is believed
that permanent settlements were not a general rule of the
various Indian tribes. Numerous trails were in existence

which the Indians had developed to accommodate travel



from one seasonal encampment to another. The routes of
these trails generally followed the high ground along
the banks of rivers or ridges of high ground left by
glaciers., Figure 1 shows the general location of these
Indian trails in the Detroit region.

With the exploration and settlement of the North
American continent by Europeans moving in a westward
direction, the French were the first white men to arrive
on the scene. A relatively small group under the
direction of Cadillac founded a village, originally
called Fort Pontchartrain, in 1701 and named in honor
of the French Minister of Marine. The decision of where
to locate the new outpost by the French was directly
related to the purpose of the waterborne trip. The
object was to strategically control the Great Lakes
waterways, and hold supremacy in the conquest of economic
trade with the Indians. In light of this, Detroit was
"established on the only high bank between Lake Huron
and Lake Erie, over looking the narrowest section of
the river. . . . where no islands intervened to obstruct
the view of passing voyagers."3 The land elevation
attains a maximum of forty-five feet above the river.

Cadillac's purpose in establishing the post
called "Detroit" (The Strait) was to make it sufficiently

3sixty Years: 1881-1941 (Detroit: J. L.
Hudsons, August, 1941), p. 6.
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powerful to check the aggressive campaign of the English
for trade with the Indians in the upper lake country.
Figure 2 shows the layout of the settlement near the
Detroit River. The area which is shaded represents the

original French village.

Fort Pontchartrain

The first recorded evidence of a specific tract
of land is entitled "Plan from Conveyances of Cadillac"
dated 1707 and 1708. This tract of land is referred to
as Fort Pontchartrain, That area is now bounded by the
present or relatively recent streets of Woodbridge,
Larned, Griswold and Wayne, Woodbridge Street in this
area today is now a part of the Civic Center and Wayne
Street has been realigned as an extension of Washington
Boulevard, At this time there were six named streets in
use: St. Joachim, St. Anne, St. Louis, St. Antoine,
Recontre and St. Francois. McDougall alley was opened at
a later date and is also shown on Figure 2, This record
also shows the location of St, Anne church and various
lots and their respective numbering., The first principle
street of the settlement was St. Anne Street, which ran
approximately parallel to the present Jefferson Avenue
and occupied land near the northerly line of said
thoroughfare.

The tract of land comprising the various lots and
five of the six streets previously mentioned was enclosed

by a palisade enclosure. St, Antoine Street to the west
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11

was the only street exclusively outside of the enclosure.
Part of St. Joachin Street extended westerly outside of
the fort enclosure. By mid century (1749) the following
public open spaces were also features of the village:
Cemetery, King's Garden and the Public Gardens. 1In the
first nine years of the post's development some sixty-
eight lots were conveyed to private citizens. The lots
within the fort were small by today's standards--25 x 25
feet in dimension.

Also granted for personal use were a number of
tracts for agricultural purposes, which over the years
have been referred to as the "French Farms" or "Private
Claims." These tracts of land ran perpendicular to the
river shore line, with a narrow frontage along the river.
The bulk of these lay west of what is now Cass Avenue
and east of what is now Brush Street. These two streets
received their respective names from the farms of which
they were an original part. The French settlement in
the form of farms bordering the Detroit River extended
"all the way (west) from the mouth of the Rouge River
east to the great swamp just east of Belle Isle. As
more French came they lined the shores of Lake St. Clair

and the Detroit River to Lake Erie."h As discussed later

brrafficways for 3 Million People (Detroit City
Plan Commission in cooperation with the Detroit Streets
and Traffic Commission, October 1954), p. 6.
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in the paper these French Farms had a direct influence
on the configuration of the city's layout.

Trade with the Indians in this area, continued
to be dominated by the French for close to sixty years.
France's principal competitors the British, in 1760 over
powered French control in the region and eventually
took possess of the Detroit outpost. This conquest
was the result of military conflicts between these two
nation's forces at places other than Detroit. The
British colors replaced the French flag at Fort du
Detroit without a local battle,

British Rule

Detroit as a strategic outpost was recognized
by the British government in 1774 when it established
the position of Lieutenant Governor for Detroit, First
to fill the position was Henry Hamilton, whose name is
closely linked with Detroit during the American Revolu-
tion. The population in 1774 was 1,357 people, of which
222 lived within the stockaded village, and the balance
resided on farms north and south of the village. During
the British reign of power at Detroit, physical improve-
ments were concentrated on two aspects of the outpost,
These were the fort and the waterfront facilities,

First of these to receive attention was the
fort., Construction of the fort was accomplished during
the winter of 1778-1779, using all able-bodied men
available. The fort was completed by April of 1779 and
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named in honor of its commander: Lernoult., Mention of
the fort is made here since later on its location and
physical size did have a bearing on ensuing urban
development. The earthen ramparts of the fort were
eleven feet high, twenty-six feet thick at the base and
twelve feet wide at the top of the parapet. The plan of
the fort was geometric in layout: a four pointed star
with intermediate projections at mid-point on each side.
The area occupied by the military fort was approximately
equal to two-thirds of the area utilized by the civil
settlement., The relationship of the c¢ivil settlement
and the fort is shown on Figure 2.

As Figure 2 depicts, immediately north of the
civil settlement a modest stream known as the Savoy or
Xavier River paralleled the Detroit River. A portion of
the land area adjacent to this stream was marshy.
Between the marshy area and the village an officer's
mess garden occupied a plot of land. The village was
completely surrounded by a palisade of stakes, To the
north this palisade crossed over the Savoy River and
converged on the embankments of the Fort.

The other major concern of the British was the
improvement of the waterfront area. The apparent inten-
tion was twofold: improve the docking facilities for
trade and make the existing settlement safer with

respect to possible fire damage. Therefore three



1k

structures were erected, projecting out into the river,
Two of these, the King's wharf and the Merchant's wharf
were to better accommodate waterborne shipping; while
the third projection provided a more isolated location
for the bakehouse. This function previously had been a
constant fire threat within the palisaded village. Thus
the general character and purpose of the strategically
located outpost continued in much the same manner as
when the French had been dominate,

In summarizing the physical layout of the settle-
ment from a land use disposition, three constituent parts
dominate the scene, Starting at the river's edge and
moving inland the parts are as follows: docking facili-
ties, the village proper and the fort.

Public open space land uses as a component of
the total development are evident in two types: circula-
tion (streets) and military originated purposes. 1In
the latter case, an officer's mess garden occupied land
extending from the northeast corner of the c¢ivil settle-
ment north toward the fort and an esplanade laid out due
north of the civil settlement was bounded by Lernoult
Street on the west, St. Honors Street on the east, the
fort on the north, and the Savoy River on the south., It
is assumed that the primary purpose of the esplanade was
for . the drilling of the troops. Both of the above men-

tioned spaces were within the confines of the palisades
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joining the civil settlement with the fort. These two

spaces covered a land area of approximately 30,600
square feet or two-thirds of one acre,

Land within the three acre village proper was
principally used by the settlers as places of residence
and work, Various occupations took place on the numerous
individual parcels, so the land use pattern of the
village can be said to be residential with ecommercial-
industrial uses intermixed. Evidence of the above condi-
tion of mixed land uses is provided by documentation
assembled in one of Clarence Monroe Burton's many
writings about Detroit.

Generally when a parcel of land was conveyed
there were two items in the consideration required.
First, a fixed rental, . . . and second, a certain
sum which Cadillac required for privileges extended
to the purchaser, as for instance, suppose the
purchaser was a blacksmith, Cadillac having the
exclusive right of trading at the post, weuld grant
this purchaser the right of blacksmithing to the
exclusion of all others, and wou%d receive an extra
compensation for this privilege.
Burton's writings indicate that of the sixty-eight
recorded conveyances in 1708 all of them cited an addi-
tional fee for other rights., One institutional use
(a Roman Catholie¢ Church) faced the north side of St.
Anne Street near its eastern end. The only public open

space within the village proper was that of streets.

5Clarenoe Monroe Burton, "Cadillacs! Village,"
or Detroit under Cadillac, 1896, p. O.
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The widest street (St. Anne) was twenty feet in width
by seven hundred feet in length., The balance of the
streets averaged ten feet wide and covered one thousand,
two hundred feet of linear distance. This area totals
26,000 square feet, or almost twenty percent of the
total village area of three acres,

In brief, all public open space accounted for
one-fifth of the compactly developed portion of the
settlement, exclusive of the fort. The farms extending
east and west along the river are not considered as a
part of the compact development. The river was used
rather than roads to maintain communication between

them and the central settlement.



CHAPTER III

TURN OF THE CENTURY

Era of the American Revolution

The outpost village of Detroit was in the hands
of the French for sixty years and the British for forty
years, a total of one century, before the forces of the
American Revolution arrived to change the national colors
flying over the fort for a second time. In 1795 twenty
years after the signing of the Declaration of Independ-
ence, Americans captured the Fort at Detroit, then
called Fort Shelby. The area of the city as of 1806
was 213 acres., The actual configuration of this area is
not indicated on any known records, although it is
presumed to have centered around the original settlement.
Probably a portion of the expanded area then known as
Detroit, included certain of the farms bordering along
the Detroit River. 1In any case, growth of the community
was now accelerating when compared to the original outpost
of three acres a century earlier.

Less than a decade after the Americans were in
control of the community, the settlement experienced a
ma jor fire,

On June 11, 1805 a fire swept through the frontier
outpost of Detroit destroying the fort, barracks,

17
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and 300 dwellings in the tightly packed village
that had grown up from the French settlement
originally established in 1701, By one of those
accidents of history Detroit's fire coincided with
a change in government and the introduction of new
personalities into the community. In the preceding
January, Congress had established Michigan as a
separate territory effective on July 1, and the
President had designated the new officials of the
government who were to take office in Detroit as
the capital of the Territory. President Jefferson
appointed General William Hull, a veteran of the
Revolution, as governor. Under the system of
territorial government three judges formed the
judiciary, and the governor and judges sitting
together constituted the legislative board.
Frederick Bates, a local resident, received one of
the judicial appointments. John Griffin of Indiana
was also appointed, but he did not actually take
office until the fall of the following yoar, The
other judge was Augustus Brevoort Woodward.

Further insight into Judge Woodward is enlight-
ening at this juncture since he will be revealed to
perform a most important role in planning the area
destined to become Detroit's Central Business District.

Woodward was a young man of thirty-one at the

time of his appointment, but his age was no
indication of his accomplishments., At fifteen

he had entered Columbia College. In 1797 he came
to Washington and four years later was admitted to
the practice of law in that city. In 1802 he was
elected as one of the twelve councilmen in
Washington, Like most Washingtonians he dabbled
in land speculation, and among his possessions
when he came to Detroit was a small notebook in
which were pasted sections of a Washington map
with symbols in ink that perhaps indicated property
he owned or had sold. He evidently knew Major
L'Enfant, since there is some evidence that he
performed legal services for him. He became a

6John W. Reps, The Making of Urban America
(Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press,
1965), p. 264.
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friend of Jefferson and shared the older man's
love of philosophic and scientific speculation,
In 1801, for example, Woodward published a
booklet entitled Considerations on the Substance
of the Sun, It was this man--learned, precocious
and a little eccentric--who was shortly to focus
his numerous talents on the exciti9g task of
creating a metropolis in the west.

From the stand point of establishing a new city
plan, the Legislative Board was dominated by Judge
Woodward,

Woodward arrived in Detroit on July 1, 1805, just
three weeks after the fire. He found the citizens
of Detroit preparing to rebuild the old town, but
he persuaded them to postpone this action until
the new officials had an opportunity to review the
problem, Hull arrived the next day and called a
meeting of officials and citizens, For three days
talks continued; then, as Hull and Woodward
summarized the situation in a report to Congress:

"The result of these discussions was, to
proceed to lay out a new town, embracing the whole
of the old town and the public lands adjacent; to
state to the people that nothing in the nature of
a title could be given under any authorities then
possessed by the Government . . . but that every
personal exertion would be used to obtain a confirma-
tion of the arrangements about to be made, and to
obtain the liberal attention of the Government of
the United States to their distresses."

Woodward was appointed a committee of one to lay
out the new town., Thomas Smith, a Canadian
surveyor, was engaged to furnish technical assigt-
ance., No copy of that plan has survived, . . .
The Plan
Figure 3 depicts the plan as revised by General

William Hulls' relative, Ali jah Hull, under Judge

TIbid.
81bid.
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Woodward's close supervision, Apparently the first
plan as drawn by Smith was completed in 1805, and the
"replacement" plan (Figure 3) was completed in the
summer of 1806 and dated January of 1807. John W. Reps
in his book, Making of Urban America, states that the

new plan accounted for more land area than the "lost"
1805 plan and that probably modifications were made to
the original design.
The legislative board of the territory passed,

An Act Concerning the Town of Detroit, which was
recorded in the Laws of the Territory of Michigan, dated
1807. This Act Concerning the Town of Detroit specified
the essential nature of how the new town would be laid
out and specified that extentions to the plan as needed
from time to time would be identical to the original
"section.," Here follows a pertinent portion of the law
as adopted by the board:

e o o the bases of the town of Detroit shall be

an equilateral triangle, having each side of the

length of four thousand feet, and having every

angle bisected by a perpendicular line upon the

opposite side, such parts being excepted, as from

the approximation of . . . (the) « . . river

Detroit, or other unavoidaSle circumstances, may

require partial deviation.
There are six sections within each equilateral triangle.

Each of the sections is a right-angle triangle. The

9An Act Concerning the Town of Detroit, Laws of
the Territory of Miechigan, 1807.
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area of each section is 26.531 acres, and the equilateral
triangles are 159.186 acres in size. The total area
represented on Figure 3 is about ". . . 3,000 acres, (or)
almost one-third of the district over which the board
had been given jurisdiction."lo A graphic interpreta-
tion of the above cited law is provided on the red over-
lay of Figure 3. The discussion above relates the
geometric framework upon which the new town plan was
based.

When one is in the heart of downtown Detroit
proper, you do not see the actual lines as described
above, What can be discerned in part are the resultant
street and lot lines. Discussion of the proposed and
certain resulting streets follows here., Three sizes of
street were provided by thelplan. Principal avenues
were laid out north-south and east-west with a width of
200 feet., Two of these principal avenues which are
recognizable to this day are Washington Boulevard and
Madison Avenue., The former runs north-south and the
latter runs east-west., Washington Boulevard today is
195 feet wide and Madison Avenue adhers to the original
200 feet width, Other main streets were platted 120
feet wide, while minor streets were platted at a liberal
width of 60 feet. Several examples of main streets laid

out in accordance with the plan and still existing at

10Reps, 266.



e3

ths planned widths include: Bagley (Cass to Park),
Jefferson (Randolph to Chrysler Freeway), Monroa
(Woodward to Randolph) and Woodward (Grand Circus Park
to Campus Martius). Examples of existing minor streects
(60 feet width) 1laid out in accordance with the plan
include: Adams, Congress, Cross, Grand River, Gratiot,
Larned, Library, Park Place, Shelby, State, and
Witherell.

A representative sampls of the above mentioned
streets are indicated on the red overlay of Figure 3 with
a medium shading dot pattern. Numerous other streets
follow the alignment as dictated by the Governor and
Judges Plan even though the rights-of-way widths are not
consistently adhered to, where as the above mentioned
examples do. OSpecific streets in the vicinity of the
river front were laid out in a grid system to facilitate
waterfront activities such as warehouses, industry and
docks., Broad streets connected this grid system area
of streets with the triangular street system.

As the previously discussed triangular system
of street lsyout would suggest, certain intersections of
streets were larger than others. This condition was a
conscious design element of the plan. Two units of
public open space were incorporated at regular intervals
in the plan. These units were "circular" and

rectangular. The "circular" unit of open space was
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larger in area than the rectangular type. Likewise the
circular type was referred to as "circus" and the
rectangular space was called a "campus,"

The location of these special units of open
space was determined as follows, Where twelve avenues
intersected, a circus was provided. The sharp points
which would normally result from such an intersection
were avoided by cutting the blocks back 160 feet, which
also provided for lots of a more normal shape. The
smaller rectangular open spaces (campuses)were to be
provided wherever six avenues intersected. These
campuses were all laid out with the longest dimension
lying in a north-south alignment. One other facet
concerning the circuses and campuses is pertinent to
this study, their size. Each circuas was eleven acres
in area with a radius of 400 feet. The rectangular
campuses were to be 590 feet long by 370 feet wide and
contain 5,01 acres,

All of the above mentioned particulars can be
discerned essentially by examining maps, yet germane to
the topic is still another source of public open space,
Here we refer to the triangular central portion of each
triangular section of land. These were left open. The
reason is clear after reading an act the Governor and

Judges passed a year after the original plan was approved
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by President Thomas Jefferson. The act reads in part
as follows:

e« o« o the internal space of ground, in the middle
of every section, shall be reserved for public
wells and pumps, for markets, for public schools,
for houses for the reception of engines or other
articles for the extinction of fires, and the
preservation of the property of the inhabitants,
for houses for the meetings of religious, moral,
literary, or political societies, or other useful
associations, and generally for such purposes of
utility or ornament, as the city council of
Detroit may, at any time, by law, provide; or as,
otherwise, the inclination and taste of the
proprietors of the lots in such section, or that
of the major part of them, may direct; and in the
same manner shall be paved, gravelled, plantif with
trees, or otherwise improved and ornamented.

These 6.01 acre triangular spaces were indeed intended
to be the internal focal point of each 26.531 acre
section of development in the city. This would appear
to be a generous allocation of space for the
community's common interests,

At this point a review of the effect of the
Governor and Judges Plan is essential. A clue as to
how effective the plan would be is alluded to by the
fact that each time Judge Woodward travelled away from
the City of Detroit, it seems resistance to implementing
the plan materialized. Even though as Reps states in

his book concerning the nature of the plan, "a single

1llpn Additional Act Concerning the Town of
Detroit, Laws of the Territory of Michigan, 1807 cited
by, John W. Reps, The Making of Urban America (Princeton,
New Jersey: Princeton University Press, 1965), p. 270.
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integrated pattern was used, a pattern as suitable to
the level topography as any other abstract system of
land subdivision, including the gridiron,"12 the
development did not occur in accordance with the plan
except for two whole sections and parts of nine others.,
Perhaps the settlers were of such a disposition or mind
not to be generally very concerned with any abstract
system of land subdivision., Rather, they probably were
more concerned with the quantity of land which they
could obtain, for purposes of sustenance and other day
to day requirements,

At any rate, those parts which were platted and
occupied in accordance with the plan amounted to 121
acres of development within the present day 542 acre
Central Business District., The total amount of public
open space within the district which adheres to the
Governor and Judges Plan is 65 acres, or 12 percent of
the total Central Business District. In detail, the
public open space platted and occupied in accordance
with the plan is as follows:

36,30 acres, streets,

10,51 acres, campus and martius,

18.03 acres, central space within sections,

6L .84 total acres.

127bid., p. 271.
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French Farms Force Growth Northward

The populace of the Detroit area from its
beginning was a mixture. French, British, Americans
and Indians had come to settle permanently in the area,
This mixture caused confusion in understanding who owned
what property at a given time. The several forms of
government and jurisdiction which had prevailed were
not consistent with each other, In line with this, the
methods of conveying title or possession of lands to
individuals also varied considerably. Records of
conveyance are erratic in completeness, name changes
are common, and transfers of "title" numerous, All of
the aforementioned suggests that to compile a complete
record of land uses for this period of time in Detroit's
history is not possible, On the other hand it is
possible to reconstruct the over-all form of the
development,

The French and American systems of property
conveyance had the most influence on the ultimate con-
figuration of development. The French development
preceded American development and will be examined
first. The key to the configuration of all the French
development is the Detroit River. The French came via

the Great Lakes and the Detroit River. The waterways
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were their form of transportation and access to the land
areas. The waterways were navigable year round. The
settlers used waterborne vessels for the majority of the
year and when the rivers were frozen they could travel
on top of the ice. The same cannot be said for overland
routes at that time. The condition of the paths and
trails varied with the seasons and resultant weather. A
trail which was high and dry in the summer might be
blocked by fallen trees or deep drifts of snow in the
winter. Where a trail traversed a low land area it

was apt to be wet or even inundated. 1In light of the
prevailing set of circumstances it was easier to accept
the waterway routes than to expend energies constructing
roads,

Since the rivers, Detroit, Rouge and Ecorse were
connected to each other, access to any property fronting
on them was mutually accessible., The original objective
of the French settlement was to engage in trade with the
Indians and control the upper portions of the Great
Lakes waterways. The primary trade involved was of
pelts of fur from native animals, These were brought
to the settlement area by the Indians, where they were
loaded on vessels for shipment back to the east coast,
Locating along the rivers facilitated these operations.
In addition to the trade economy of the settlement, food

to eat was a necessity. The combination of these two
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activities appear sufficient reason for the general
manner in which land was allocated to the settlers,
Parcels were staked out so that each had access to the
rivers. The configuration of these parcels was that of
long narrow rectangles. The parcels were in fact farms.
"Each farm had a narrow frontage 40O to 900 feet wide
on the river, and extended inland as much asa three
miles."13 Figure L shows in part how extensive an area
these French farms covered. An indication of how many
of these tracts of land existed by 1810 in the Detroit

area is provided on a map entitled: Plan of Private

Claims in Michigan Territory, as surveyed by Aaron

Greeley, D. Surveyor. Some 245 private claims are
recorded on that map, of which 156 are noted as being

in the Detroit Settlement, and the balance are situated
along the adjacent rivers of Rouge and Ecorse. Greeley's
1810 record of private claims covers a land area of
approximately twice that shown on Figure L. Within the
immediate geographic area we know as the Central

Business District, five (farms) (private claims) occupied
984.58 acres of land. By comparing Figure 4 and Figure S
it can be seen, how the only land not occupied by private

claims was immediately north of the center of the

13Trafficwaxg,for Three Million People, op. ¢it.,

p. 6.
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settlement, between claims numbered one and fifty-five.
This "unclaimed" strip of land measured approximately
one-half mile in width and extended northward two and
three-quarters miles, where it bordered a 10,000 acre
tract of land donated by the General Government to the
Territory of Michigan, It was in this narrow one-half
mile wide stretch of land that urban development within
the confines of the corporate city limits would soon

take place,

American PFarms

As of 1815, the city limits of Detroit were
expanded by charter to embrace an area of 1.36 square
miles or 870.40 acres. By 1820 the population of
Detroit according to the U.,S. Census was 1,442 people.
The settlement was accelerating its growth both in
terms of number of citizens and area occupied. The
private claims owners did not appear to be inclined to
subdivide and sell parcels to the increasing population,
at least not to the extent of the demand. Perhaps one
deterent to that activity was that the land was useless
unless a person could gain access to it. This meant
building streets to the lots and the private claimants
were known to build individual roads on their property
leading back from the waterfront for their own personal

use but seldom built roads parallel to the river which
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would have provided inland intercommunications between
the farms. Thus new settlers began seeking lots
elsewhere.

Elsewhere proceeded to be a former tract of
public ground. Originally the land had been put aside
by the.French for use as a common pasturing field., It
was referred to then as the King's Common. This author
has never seen it recorded on any maps or plans,
although Clarence M. Burton documents it in his classic

history reference, The City of Detroit, as ", . . lying

between the Brush Farm on the east and the Cass Farm on
the west, and extending back from the town line to a
distance of nearly three miles from the river."lu The
above mentioned farms correspond to private claims one
and fifty-five east and west of the Commons respectively.
Burton states, the Common was determined to be property
of the United States.

According to Clarence M, Burton's writings the
Governor and Judges laid out the Commons north of Adams
Avenue into what was known as "Park Lots" including the
ground on both sides of Woodward Avenue and extending
northward nearly to the present boulevard (Grand
Boulevard). In March of 1809, forty-one of these lots

were sold. The "people" opposed this sale and presented

1461 arence M. Burton, The City of Detroit,
Volume 1 (Chicago-Detroit: The S. J. Clarke Publishing
Co., 1927), p. 321.
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a petition for the return of the lots to the people for
use as a public commons forever. This petition was not
granted. Burton goes on to state further, that the Park
Lots constituted a part of the 10,000 acre tract donated
by Congress in 1806, This reference is in respect to
the very large rectangular tract outlined in red on the
overlay of Figure 4. As the note on base map of Figure L
states, this land was donated by the General (Federal)
Government to defray the expenses of public buildings
which the territorial government might incur. The
method of defraying public expenses was to sell to
private persons, land from this tract. Further clarifi-
cation of the disposition of these lands follows,

The disposition of this public land was initiated
at a meeting of the Commissioners sitting as the Land
Board on December 1llj, 1808. The three Commissioners
present: Governor Hull, and Judges John Griffin and
James Witherell so,

ordered, that Mr. McCloskey be requested to survey
the lands granted by congress to this Territory,
for the purpose of building a jail and courthouse,
and that he commence his survey northwest of the
street, 30. "This was the survey of the parklots,"
which runs thro!' the Grand Circus, parallel with
the main street; that he shall there begin with

lots of five acres, and increase the size of the
lots as he proceeds, . . .15

15Governor and Judges Journal, Proceedings of
the Land Board of Detroit, ed. M. Agnes Burton, Comp.
Clarence M, Burton (1915), p. 17.
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As a result of the above survey, 1,360 acres were
conveyed.,

The balance of the 10,000 acre tract was not
surveyed until 1816, when it was divided into twelve lots
of eighty acres each, totalling 8,640 acres. Apparently
conveyance of these lands was slow, since the record
shows that not until April 2, 1835 were all of the Park
Lots conveyed, aa likewise the Ten Thousand Acre Tract,

by the same date.

Use of Public Reservations Parcels

The intended uses and function of Public
Reservation parcels was described earlier in this
chapter under the description of the Governor and Judges
Plan, In the same year (1807) that the Governor and
Judges Plan is dated, a map was prepared by Compton and
Gibson of Buffalo, New York. On this latter plan,
Figure 5 the Public Reservation parcels are referred to
in the legend by the letter M. Further, on the Plan
proper the M designation is shown in twelve places. Not
all of the Public Reservations were the same in size or
relative location, These specially designated areas
were slated to be laid out in three different categories,
The largest ones were the circuses and the campuses,
which have been previously described. The second
category of public reservation is that centered within

each numbered section of land. Each of these was laid
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out in a triangular configuration. The third and last
type of public reservation parcel as shown on the
Compton and Gibson Plan is also inside of some of the
numbered sections. These parcels were irregular polygons
in shape and also the smallest parcels designated for
public use by the plan. The location of these irregular
parcels was close to one of the angled intersections
within a numbered section other than a right-angle
intersection. The red overlay of Figure 5 highlights
the location and configuration of the twelve designated
parcels, It is presumed that both Grand Circus and
Campus Martius were considered as also being "M" areas,
the Compton and Gibson Plan refers to them by their
respective proper names,

Concerning ourselves with the specific land uses
assigned to M parcels, only four out of the total of
twelve were assigned. These are listed as follows by
the section number they are in and the identifying letter

as found in the legend.

Section Letter Use
1l F. Catholic Church
5 E. Fort Shelby
7 A, Penitentiary
8 B. Capitol

The above four assigned spaces were all of the triangular

type public reservation parcels. Of these four the fort
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was not actually assigned to the space in Section Five,
gsince it was already in existence before the Plan was

devised.

Land Transportation

As urban development traversed inward from the
shoreline, water transportation became less convenient
and less suited to all of the needs of the inhabitantas.
The inconvenience caused by lack of adequate roads was
expressed prior to the nineteenth century in behalf of
Detroit. "Just before the first general assembly for
the Northwest Territory met in 1799, Peter McNiff, a
local judge and influential citizen wrote to the Wayne
County representative to ask for better roads. He
pointed out that settlements extending sixty miles up
and down the river from Lake Erie to Lake Huron could be
reached by land only in September. Because of the
swamps, these settlements had to be reached by boat in
spring, or by sleigh on the ice in winter."l6

However influential Peter McNiff and others may
have been, substantial fiscal support was not forthcoming
until two decades later. During the 1820's the United
States government authorized several military highways

to connect Detroit with such points as Port Huron,

16Trafficwg1§ for three million people, op. cit.,

p. le.
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Saginaw and Chicago. In effect what the government did
was to declare some of the old Indian trails as the
routes for the military roads. At that time the trails
were not passable on a year around basis, at least not
as far as the white man's requirements are concerned,
For overland travel the white man utilized two wheel
carts pulled by ponies and the condition of the trails
would not accommodate this mode of transport for a good
part of each year,

Eventually the road builders did take advantage
of the general alignment of the Indian trails for the
primary reason that the trails followed high ground
wherever possible. Five of the eight major trails lead
into the area of Detroit's Central Business District.
Within the Central Business District we will later see
the alignment of the highways is "spoke shaped" in
configuration as a result of the Governor and Judges
Plan.

The following list includes the ma jor trails,
their eventual street name and United States Highway
route number.

0ld River Trail - general alignment of
Jefferson east and west

Great Trail - general alignment of Fort
St. west and Gratiot
(U.S. 25) east

Saginaw Trail - Woodward Avenue (U.S,., 10)



39

Grand River Trail - Grand River Avenue
(U.S. 16)
Sauk Trail - Michigan Avenue (U.S. 12)

The three other trails not leading directly to
the Central Business District but in the region included
the Ann Arbor, Potawatomi and a branch of the Great
Trail, These trails generally followed inland streams
including the Rouge, Huron and Rsisin Rivers., Reference
is called to Figure 1 which discloses the close relation-
ship between the Indian trails and the new highways.

The condition of these "improved" roads was not
always satisfactory. In an effort to correct this state
of affairs the State of Michigan Plank Road Act of 1848
was passed. The effect of this act was to supplement
federal funds for the improvement and maintenance of the
highways. By the name of the act, one will recognize
that the new improvements were to be constructed of
wooden planking. The Michigan Plank Road Act was imple-
mented by granting sixéy year charters to applicants
who would construct these roads. The financing of the
roads was by private capital, and to repay the investors
"tolls" or rates of fare for the privilege of using them
were maintained at five to six mile intervals., As an
example on the tollroad leading to Pontiac there were
three tollgates, the first one being located at Adams

Avenue, adjacent to the Grand Circus.
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The era of plank roads lasted for only a decade,
far short of the authorized sixty year charters. The
chief reason for the early failure was because the tolls
charged were not sufficient to provide adequate mainten-
ance. The state of disrepair became so great the public
came to loathe the very name toll road. The solution
for making the roads passable was found to substitute
gravel for planks, The gravel roads proved serviceable
when provided with adequate drainage. This form of road
continued until concrete highways were built to help
accommodate the automobile, It was at that time that
public funds were used and therewith the private toll
roads passed into history.

While the highways were being improved a new
form of transportation was appearing. Steam motive power
gave the railroad its first real advantage. The first
railroad in the Northwest was the Pontiac and Detroit
line, incorporated in 1831. While the first railroad
station in Detroit was located at the edge of downtown,
by 1842 a new station was located in the heart of the
city at Gratiot and Farmer Streets. This location is
ad jacent to the triangular parcel of land in Section 7
of the Governor and Judges Plan, designated a Public
Reservation.

Other stations were built as new railroad lines

were constructed into the downtown of the city. One of
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the later stations was located on a site previously
designated as a Public Reservation, that being the
Campus Martius, The balance of new train stations
thereafter sought sites south of the very center of the
downtown toward the river, The other locations within
the Central Business District are as follows: at Third
and Woodbridge, at Michigan and Third, at Fort and
Third, and at Brush and Atwater. In 1914, the newest
and largest railroad station in Detroit was completed,
being located to the west of the Central Business
District at Michigan Avenue and Roosevelt Park,

In summary, five railroad stations locations
were situated within the Central Business District prior
to the twentieth century. In later years two of these
stations remained, both being on the edges of the
district and the station with the greatest volume of
traffic relocated outside of the district,

Land Use Growth: Changes Through
Turn of the Century

The preceding four sections of this chapter,
together with Chapter I, provide the framework within
which the land uses will be described. The transporta-
tion functions which we have mentioned are the result of
an increase in the number of people in the area and
their desires for improved means of travel and transport.

The Erie Canal was completed in the early part of the
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nineteenth century, making it easier for people to travel
west, The population of Detroit and Wayne County
combined, almost doubled between the years 1820 and

1830. PFrom 1830 to 1850 the population of Detroit more
than tripled reaching 21,000 persons by mid-century.

An increase in the amount of land area needed for
the inhabitants is reflected in the growth of Detroit by
its annexation records. In less than forty-five years,'
from 1806 to 1849 the city expanded almost eighteen
times its size. Quantitatively from the time it submit-
ted a plan to Congress in 1806 for approval, the city
embraced an area of 0.33 square miles; by 1849 Detroit
was 5.85 square miles in area., This growth was
accomplished by the annexation process., The Detroit
area of 1849 represents five annexation prooeedings.17

In contrast to the outward growth of the
community, attention here is focused on the internal
situation. Now, we should recall that within each
4,000 foot equilateral triangle of the Governor and
Judges Plan, seven specifically designated public
reservations were proposed; plus the respective portion
of a circus at the three angles of each triangle, There-

fore if we account for a "whole" circus for each triangle

17566 Appendix "B" for more detailed information
regarding land areas acquired for each annexation., The
area embraced by the city as of 1849 included all of the
land area within the Central Business District as
currently known,
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the theoretical total number of public reservations is
eight. Yet, only four of these materialized in line
with the original thought of the plan. Those four plus
two other spaces are of note because of the ensuing
development upon and around them, They are as follows:
Campus Martius, Capitol Park, Grand Circus Park, Library
Park, and Cadillac Square plus Clinton Park. An inter-
pretation of the land uses associated with these six
public open spaces is provided first, and then attention
is afforded the general land use configuration for the
area as a whole,

The period of time accounted for here is circa
the nineteenth century. Additional changes of the land
uses in later years are discussed in Chapters IV and V.
For the purpose of identifying the several different
land uses associated at the six specific spaces men-
tioned above a detailed listing follows. Each listing
is identified by a name and number., Both name and
number are repeated in the legend of Figure 6, with the
numbers appearing on the map proper. The majority of
the document sources of information utilized here are
other than maps. Mapping as a form of recording land
uses in Detroit commenced at the end of this period
(1896). Because of this, occasional ambiguous locations
are offered regarding a given land use, Where this

situation occurs they are so noted,
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1. Campus Martius:

This campus is located in the heart of the down-
town, midway between Grand Circus Park and the river on
Woodward Avenue. It is the only rectangular public open
space in the central business district other than
streets. The campus is second only to the Grand Circus
in size. The orientation of the campus is true north-
south.

The campus space itself has been the site of at
least six known land use functions. The first of these
utilized the fact that it was an open space. For more
than a century (118 years) it was the site of the
military parade ground. This function of the space can
be attributed to the close proximity of the fort,
bordering the campus on the southwest corner. Termina-
tion of this use of the campus is related to the federal
government's sale of the fort in 1827. 1In that year the
fort was razed, and the earth used to fill the campus
and Xavier Creek..0 Shortly thereafter, the land was
platted and put on the market for sale in 1830. No
records of structures or new land uses occur until 1836.
In that year two stations proceeded to share the site.

One of these stations was a railroad station and the

18Congress Street partially follows the align-
ment of Xavier Creek, it was that portion of Xavier
Creek which was filled.
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other a fire station. The railroad station, first
Michigan Central Depot was situated in the northwest
portion of the Campus, corner of Michigan and Griswold
streets, until 18438 when it relocated to a new depot at
Michigan and Third. The fire station may have been
located on this site until the city hall was completed
in 1871.19 Only four years after the fire and train
stations commenced operations on the site a female
academy petitioned the State of Michigan for a portion
of the campus. This institution opened for operation
in 1843.

Seven years later the surrounding residents
petitioned the city to improve the campus site as a
park. This was not done. In 1856 the City of Detroit
took ownership of the campus, until then owned by the
State of Michigan. Three years later the city commenced
clearing the land for the purpose of erecting a city
hall. Apparently this was a fairly lengthy process,
since the city hall (joint city and county offices) was
not completed and occupied until 1871, twelve years
later. In the meantime mention was made that during the
1860's the campus was in a state of disrepair. With the
exception of the military parade ground function the

campus's use as the site of the city hall was the

19Razing of the fire station undetermined.
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longest, ninety years. The shortest recorded use of
the site is that of a circus ground. In the summers of
1853 and 1854 the campus land was leased to a circus for
the purpose of conducting a circus show.
In summary, Campus Martius has been put to six

uses classified as follows:

a) Open space only, twice

b) Transportation terminal, once,

¢) Institution, once, and

d) Site of public structure, twice.

The changes which occurred in the course of the first

s

half of the nineteenth century on the Campus Martius
express a period of growth in the community and of
indirect ownership concern by the state. When the city
took ownership of the property it did so with an apparent
objective in mind, to build a city hall on the site.
Shortly after the turn of the century, the city was in
the process of preparing the site for construction of
the city hall. The city hall was completed and occupied
by 1871, rounding out the century. This public open
space evolved from a relatively changing scene to that
of one prominent public use: the seat of local
government.

A preponderance of commercial land uses surrounded
the Campus Martius in the nineteenth century. These

commercial uses included such establishments as a shoe
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store, theater, jewelry shop, clothing store, hotel,
grocery store, furniture, an office building and a drug
store. Two other land uses of note fronted on the space.
The first of these was an armory, situated here from
1853 until 1898, when a new armory was completed at
Brush and Larned Streets. The other land use is the
former Detroit Opera House. This establishment is
considered an institutional land use, while the armory
was a public land use. These two cases of a land use
other than commercial are the only ones of record.

Space for locating commercial functions facing the

Campus Martius with the City Hall situated on the western
portion of it appeared to be in demand. 1In 1895 the
first steel frame commercial building was erected on

the northwest side of the Campus Martius. The structure
was being erected to house the tallest department store
in America; before the structure was completed the
entrepreneur went bankrupt and the building was subse-

quently utilized as an office building.

2. Capitol Park

This public reservation parcel was also one of
those originally designated for a public purpose. The
first use that Capitol Park was put to was as a site for
the capitol building for the Territory of Michigan. The

capitol building was occupied from 1828 through 1847, as
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a territorial government seat. In 1848 the use of the
structure was converted to that of a school, when the
State of Michigan Capitol was redesignated as Lansing,
Michigan.

In 1865 library facilities were provided within
the same structure as the school. This function was
housed here for twelve years until a separate library
building was completed elsewhere. The old capitol
building continued to serve as a school until 1893 when
fire destroyed the building. The tract of land remained
vacant of structures for the balance of the century. For
many years now the southern end of Capitol Park has been
the location of a monument in honor of Stevens Thomson
Mason, first governor of the State.

Land uses surrounding the public open space were
divided about equally between residence and commerce for
the major portion of the century. While in the earlier
years a location close to the state capitol had economic
advantages, when the school board took possession of the
structure for educational purposes the economic relation-
ship was not as strong.

Evidence of one institutional land use occupying
frontage is available. In the 1880's a Young Mens
Christian Association facility was built at Grand River
and Griswold. Just prior to the turn of the century

(1899) the Chamber of Commerce offices were located at
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the northeast corner of State and Griswold Streets,
which gives evidence that with a change in the function
of the central space (school destroyed by fire in 1898)

the commercial functions increased.

3. Grand Circus Park

Of the numerous circuses shown on the Governor
and Judges Plan, this is the only one which was trans- -
mitted from paper to actual development. The circuses
were to be laid out as a full circular tract of land,
each embracing a total of elaven acres. Yet, not even
Grand Circus Park fulfilled the new town plan layout: J
only the southern half of the Circus was developed
covering an area of five and one-half acres. The northern
edge of Grand Circus Park is Adams Avenue while the
circular sides are composed of Park and Witherell
Streets. Woodward Avenue bisects the half circular
space in a north-south manner.

Another feature of the Governor and Judges Plan
wag that for this gspecific Circus a land use was
designated. The Capitol Building was to have been
congtructed on this site. As has been previously
learned, this location never came to pass. The Capitol
building was constructed on a triangular center parcel
in Section 8, known today as Capitol Park. No ma jor

structures have ever been constructed on or in Grand
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Circus Park. Several minor features have been located
on the land including a fountain, public toilet
facilities and monuments of a historic nature. By
1885 a series of walkways were in existence traversing
both halves: of the circus. Thes=se walks were laid out
in a manner which lead to a focal point feature in the
middle of each half.

The basic physical characteristics of this
public open space have remained constant. The size and
shape have not altered since first laid out, and conse-
quently the linear perimeter affecting surrounding land
uses has not changed. From these conditions it can
be stated that Grand Circus Park has been stable.

The land uses around the Grand Circus in the
nineteenth century were predominately residential.
Among the numerous houses fronting on the Circus was the
residence of Governor John J. Bagley at the corner of
Park Street and Washington Boulevard. This residence
was built in 1869. By comparison the Bagley residence
was the largest of the residential structures fronting
on the Circus.zo The Robinson Atlas appears to offer
the most complete mapped documentation for this period

of Detroit's history. The one land use exception to

20g, Robinson, Atlas of the City of Detroit and
Suburbs (New York: E. Robinson, 1885), plate 1.
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residences around the circus is classified in this
thesis as ingtitutional. Specifically the institutional
use found here in the later part of the century is two
churches. The location of the two churches was approxi-
mately diagonal from each other on opposite sides of the
open space. While one church was located at the north-
east corner of Woodward and Adams Avenues, the other
church was situated at the south-west corner of Macomb
Avenue (now Bagley Avenue) and Park Street. The
remainder of the properties fronting on the circus were
occupied by modest size structures for purposes of
residenée. Most of the structures appear to be free
standing and of two-stories in height.

The relationship of surrounding land uses to the
Grand Circus public open space in the nineteenth century
is partially conditioned upon its location. The major
economic activities such as industry and commerce at
this time were still predominately orientated toward the
river. That is to say, land uses other than residential
and some institutional had not tended to move northward
away from the earliest settlement area near the river
and Jefferson Avenus, From a more immediate standpoint
the development of the public open space with walkways
and statuary was a pleasant and conducive complimentary
treatment for surrounding residential uses. Thus the

population of approximately two dozen residences enjoyed
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the spacious setting of fronting on the park. In the
following chapter it will be observed that with land
use changes around the Grand Circus, many additional

people would benefit from this public open space.

4. Library Park

Like the previous three cited public open
spaces, the Library Park tract of land is a result of
the Governor and Judges Plan. While Capitol Park is
situated west of Woodward Avenue, Library Park is one
block east of Woodward Avenue. It too was designated
as a public reservation tract and is located in Section
7 of the new town plan. The predetermined land use of
this triangular parcel of land is indicated on the 1807
map prepared by Compton and Gibson as a penitentiary.
Sufficient documentation has not been discovered by the
author to confirm when and if the penitentiary building
was erected, used and razed for a later use.

In contrast to the lack of documentation con-
cerning the above public use of this tract of land,
another public agency did eventually occupy the site
and the records are numerous. The Detroit Public Library
commenced operations in a building on the site in 1877.
Construction of the building was started in 1875, with
dedication ceremonies conducted in 1877. Less than ten

years later, work was begun on a two story addition to

~wE v



54

the library. At this time the triangular parcel was
known as Centre Park.

Use of the land for a public library has con-
tinued ever since the doors to the first building were
opened. The siting of the building was such as to leave
some landscape space all around the structure. Thus a
sense of open space was maintained even though the site
was occupied by a structure. The most effective
remaining open space consisted of two parts. At the
north end a triangular portion of open land affords the
opposite sides of surrounding frontage to be visually
evident to each other. At the south end a rectangular
portion of land accentuates the width of the total
triangular tract. The entrance to the library building
ig situated at this wide end. The wide end of the space
is bounded by three streets while at the narrow portion
of the triangle two streets converge to form the acute
angle of the tract.

With this physical configuration in mind the
surrounding land uses can now be observed. Two distinct
patterns were in evidence after the public library use
was in operation. The two patterns of use are located
one at the southern half of the surrounding frontage,
and the other being the northern portion. The northern
half presents a consistent pattern of residential

properties fronting on the public open space. The
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southern half was an entirely different situation. A
combination of commercial, institutional, industrial
and residential uses were intermixed around this south
perimeter.

To the three central questions posed by the
thesis we can now offer answers regarding the immediate
Library Park area. The shape and size of this public
open space has remained unchanged. We know only of
public uses being located on the public land. Sur-
rounding land uses were distributed in two patterns.
The northern perimeter frontage consisted of residential
uses; quite likely the houses were in existence prior
to the library. The southern perimeter frontage
attracted a mixture of land uses. This mixed land use
pattern was more intensive in space utilization than
the northern residential half. Access to the library
was from the south. Perhaps this location encouraged
more foot traffic to the south than to the north. If
this is the case the presence cf the commercial land
uses would be enhanced by the greater number of poten-
tial customers in the immediate vicinity. Another
condition which may have had a bearing on the arrange-
ment of the land uses around the public open space, is
that the more intensive commercial uses in the central
business district were, at this time, located south of

the Library Park area.
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5. Cadillac Square

Unlike the four previously cited spaces,
Cadillac Square was not designated a public reservation
parcel. Cadillac Square has always been a public
street right-of-way. The alignment and width of the
street are a result of the Governor and Judges Plan.
Cadillac Square was originally known as Michigan Grand
Avenue laid out in a true east-west alignment. The
width as prescribed by the Governor and Judges Plan was
two hundred feet, a principal avenue intended to lead
to the several circuses.

Michigan Grand Avenue never did fulfill the
intentions of the plan; west of Woodward Avenue the
width of the street was substantially reduced, and east
of Woodward Avenue the street extended for only two
blocks, terminating at Randolph Street. This later
condition was a result of the westerly line of the Brush
FParm. Figure 5 shows the location of this line and its
alignment with Randolph Street.

Every city has a market place of one kind or
another. Detroit is no exception. In the first century
of its growth as a city, Cadillac Square served as the
market center of the community. The central portion of
the street was utilized for large sheds in which market
operations took place. The market function was important

enough to the city fathers, that they constructed a
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market hall at the west end of Cadillac Square, facing
onto Campus Martius, Within the publicly built market
hall, space for governmental units was provided on the
second and third floors. Here were located the Board
of Health, Superior Court, and other governmental
agencies, This public market building served as the
principal location for government agencies of the city
and county until 1872, when the first city hall was
built on the opposite side (west) of Campus Martius,

The land uses on the perimeter of Cadillac
Square appear to be closely related to the public
markets, Other markets numbered three, a grocer, a
livery stable and three hotels are noted on plate one
of the Robinson Atlas., At the eastern end of the space
a large steam laundry operated on property facing

Randolph Street,

6., Clinton Park

Although the sixth public open space to be
discussed was not a part of the original Governor and
Judges Plan, the root purpose which brought it into
being is even older. The basic reason for Clinton Park,
the sixth selective public open space for discussion,
has its root source even earlier than the Governor and
Judges Plan, Ever since the French established the

original Saint Annes Church a burial ground was
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associated with the church site. When the Governor and
Judges Plan was enacted the church property as well as
numerous other properties were found to lie within the
proposed street rights-of-way. The local Catholic
church body was not to be displaced from its rightful
property by the Governor and Judges Plan., Such a
sacred site as the land for interment was not to be
easily converted into a street., Congress Street as we
know it today was to eventually traverse the burial
grounds of Saint Annes Church,

In 1827, twenty years after the Governor and
Judges Plan was set in motion, the city acted to provide
a new cemetery site within the city. Iﬁ that year, the
city purchased two and one-half acres of land from the
Antoine Beaubien farm, This tract of land was divided
equally into two parts. The west half was designated
for the protestant's use, with the east half earmarked
for the Catholic's use.

The population of the Detroit community continued
to increase steadily, and before long even the new
cemetery space was fully occupied. Therefore, as soon
as 1834 the city was in need of additional cemetery
space., The Guoin Farm was purchased by the city in this
year. A portion of the farm was laid out for cemetery

purposes since the Clinton Park Cemetery was already
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inadequate for further use., Thus in a brief seven years
the first public cemetery was completely utilized and
additional space for burial was sought elsewhere. With
attention shifted to a new location the maintenance of
the Clinton Park Cemetery became even more negligent,
In an effort to avoid the continued circumstances of
poor public cemetery practice a group of prominent
private citizens purchased land east of the central
business district for a private cemetery. The first of
the private cemeteries was Elmwood Cemetery, starting
with forty-one acres of land,

Thus with private enterprise entering this type
of land use concern, pressure was relieved and, the
city went on to other efforts.

In 1854 after the Clinton Park Cemetery had ceased
to be used for new interments, Saint Antoine
Street was opened through it from south to north.
This disturbed a large number of graves and as they
were disinterned the remains were removed to other
cemeteries.cl
That was not the last change to the cemetery, but rather
the first., Twelve years after the street opening a city
common council resolution adopted in 1867, converted

that part of the cemetery lying north of Clinton Street

to a park, to be called Clinton Park,.

21Clarence M. Burton, M. Agnes Burton, editors,
History of Wayne County and the City of Detroit,
Michigan (Chicago-Detroit: The S. J. Clarke Publishing
Co., 1930), Volume II, p. 971.
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An objection to the council resolution was
expressed by the local Catholic diocese relative to the
eastern half of the property. The Catholic Church
maintained that they would not relinquish the eastern
portion of the cemetery for park purposes. In lieu of
relinquishing the eastern portion for intended park
purposes the Catholics stated they would establish a
hospital on their portion., Thus after forty years use
as a cemetery the northwest portion of the tract of
land changed uses, although still in public ownership.

After the tract of land became a park, several
public and institutional land uses situvated on two sides
of the public open space. The Catholic Church estab-
lished Saint Mary's hospital to the immediate east of
the park and a court building followed on the south edge
of the park in 1889, These two institutions were
followed by additional institutions and public uses in
the next century of urban growth, Land use activity
around the space in the close of the nineteenth century
was intensified by expansion of the hospital facilities.

Summarizing, the three basic questions with
reference to Clinton Park, the following remarks appear
appropriate. The origin of the public open space was
to supplement an earlier inadequate facility located
very near the center of the growing community. The

tract of land chosen for Clinton Park Cemetery appeared
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far enough removed from the other community activities
that it would not present a similar obstacle to urban
development as the original Saint Anne's Church burial
ground had. The tract of land was rectangular in shape
having approximately a one:two width to length ratio.
The length of the space was laid out in an east-west
manner. The size of the tract was two and one-half
acres, Due to neglectful public administration and
maintenance of the cemetery grounds, and coupled with

a street opening through the cemetery the space was
physically divided into two units., Further subdivision
of the land occurred when the northern portion of the
west half was dedicated as a park. The park represented
one-fourth of the original cemetery space. As a result
the remaining public open space was drastically reduced
in size and due to the new streets the resulting
rectangular space's main axis ran in a north-south
direction.

The land uses attracted to the space were one
institutional and one public in function. The institu-
tional use (hospital) and the public court building
were sited to take advantage of the public open space

for breathing room if not for aesthetic reasons.

Proposals for New Civic Public Spaces

All of the six selective public open spaces

were a part of the total community in individual ways.

R
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None of them was completely representative of the
community in a symbolic manner. With the beginnings of
the twentieth century, representatives of the city
began searching for a means whereby the civitas of
Detroit would be expressed. Two such efforts were
initiated, one through the City Plan and Improvement
Commission, and the second through a Committee of
Citizens and Veterans. Each of these is worth our
attention,

In 1909 the City Plan and Improvement Commission
of Detroit was started. This first public planning
body as we know them today functioned without a permanent
staff, One of the consultants which they retained was
Edward H, Bennett. Mr, Bennett's plenning schemes for
Detroit were prepared in the year 1915. The scope of
the proposals prepared by him covered a variety of sub-
ject matter, as well as an extensive portion of the
city. Some of the proposals offered by Mr. Bennett
included: street improvements to mitigate traffic
congestion, pesrk and recreation festures, a center for
the Arts and Letters, and an "Ideal Treatment of the
Campus Martius, Cadillac Square snd the Foot of Woodward

n22

Avenue, a Civic Center.

22Edward H, Bennett, Preliminary Plan of Detroit
(Detroit: Detroit City Plan and Improvement Commission,
1915, Re-printed by City Plsn Commiesion, April 1921),
Plate VIII.

(RN
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This last propossl is the only one which
pertains to the Central Business District snd the
saliant features are described as follows, In discus-
sing the proposed Civic Center Complex envisioned by
Bennett attention is directed to Figure 7, a reproduc-
tion of a drawing prepsred in his offices. Appsrently
certain requirements were established in developing the
plan either by the Improvement Committee or the
architect himself since the proposal is relatively
definite as to building functions.

The complex centers on the previously existing
Campus Martius., Orientation of the space is altered
from the original due north-south alignment to one
coinciding with Woodward Avenue. The other chsnge in
the central public open space conceived by this design
scheme is that, the corners of the blocks intersecting
with Woodward Avenue be cut back at an angle, thereby
creating an eight sided public open space. Like the
previous four sided space, the new space slso has edges
of two dimensions. From the msin central space two
dominant psths of space project outward. To the river
is Woodward Avenue and to the east is a new space
bisecting the block between Monroe Street and Cedillsc
Square., These latter two streets flank the proposed
compoaition. Both Monroe Street and Cedillac Square

were indicated as boulevsrd streets on the plsn, while
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Woodward Avenue wss shown as a wide street terminating
at the river on an esplanade.

The main composition of the Civic Center complex
is nine individual structures arranged in symetrical
fashion around the Campus Masrtius and the new easterly
projecting street. As shown on the drawing (Figure 7)
each of the buildings was identified by intended use.

Of these nine buildings three were in existence when the
plan was dreawn, These three were the city hall, post
office and a federel building. This last building was
actually the present county building st the eastern end
of Cadillac Square. According to Bennett the City Hall
would be converted to use for the police depasrtment and
8 new city hall would be at the eastern terminus of the
new street. The remainder of the new buildings flank
the new street plus a second federal building would lie
immediately north of the new city hsll.

The Bennett design scheme lsbelled the '"Idesl
Treatment" is of the baroque order of plsnning. Such
projects tend to be grsndiose in scale. The one typical
physical failing is a lack of regard for the surrounding
townscape that envelopes it, and thus openly denies its
esthetic pretensions. Baroque planning is derived from
a period of princely powers. Baroque plans typically
call for stringent control of the surrounding area, and
heavy capital investments which are not necessarily

conducive to a democretic society., One further comment
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about baroque schemes, "half a loaf is actuslly worse
than none: what remains undone or unsffected by the
plen is itself a confession of its weakness."23 Detroit
was one of numerous Americsn cities to receive baroque
plans as late as the first part of the twentieth century,
probably an extended outgrowth of the Chicago World's
Fair in 1893,

The pendulum of planning has had a tendency to
swing from one extreme to another. From the City
Beautiful movement, of which Bennett's proposals may be
classified, the trend shifted to thast of the city
efficient. Edward H, Bennett's proposal to the City
Plan and Improvement Commission consequently never
materialized.

Just prior to Mr. Bennett's studies being pub-
lished by the Improvement Committee, world events were
beginning to be upset. World Wer I started in 1914 and
was to last into 1918. The United States became
actively involved in the war ss of 1917. Numerous
citizens of Detroit were called to serve their country
in the world conflict. Not all of them returned alive,
and while others did return, all of the veterans were

respected for their efforts.

23Lewis Mumford, The City in History: Its
Origins, Its Transformations, and Its Prospects (New
York: Harcourt, Brace & World, lInc., 1961), p. L4Ol.

v
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In the year that the war ended (1918), the City
of Detroit made a change in the structure of its
planning program, The City Plan Commission was formed
to replace the earlier City Plan and Improvement Commis-
sion. The new commission was afforded more permanent
status, and directives as to which efforts to pursue
were put forth., This change was a result of influences
by the Detroit Citizens League and the Bureau of
Governmental Research, the latter formed in 1916. A
more responsive common council meeting daily, took heed
of the citizens' desires,

As early as 1919 the common council was aware
of the general sentiments of the Detroit citizenry
relevant to providing some public act of commemoration
to the city's war heroes. In 1921 the general electorate
of the city approved a propositon on the ballot to,

authorize General Public Improvement Bonds of
Detroit for $5,500,000, to be issued and sold as
determined by the Common Council, . . . the avails
to be used to procure a site for and to erect a
building for public assemblages and recreation, to
serve as a city convention hall sufficient to seat
ten thousand persons in its main auditorium, with
rooms for societies of returned service men and
women, the building owned by the city, to be a
Memorial Hall in apprecistion of those Detroiters

who in war gave theiE lives and their service to
their country. . . . 4

2hMomorial Hall Report Recommendations as to
Site, and other Records, 1925 (Detroit: Memorisl Hall
Committee of Citizens and Veterans), p. 3.
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The following year Common Council appointed a committee
to pursue the matter of a site for the proposed Memorial
Hall. On August 22, 1922, the Memorial Hall Site
Committee composed of twenty-five members began its
work,
In the course of the next two years the Memorial

Hall Site Committee along with two other citizens and
veterans committees and a sub-committee on site, devel-
oped a set of resolutions which were agreed upon and
presented to the Common Council. The Committees did
draw upon the expert knowledge of two site engineers as
well as numerous other individuals. The criteria upon
which the site location resolutions were based is of
planning significance. The Committee established that
the following six general principles were indeed the
criteria upon which to base their decision of a site
location and size of the site,.

First: Central location--The very nature and use

of Memorial Hall require a location central as to

city activities.

Second: Setting--The edifice must be given an
imposing setting to maske it physically impressive.

Third: City Plan--It should tie in intimately with
the city plan, to bring out the Memorial's impor-
tance as a public building, and, in turn, add its
own dignity to the plan,

Fourth: Mass transportation--It should be at a
point easily accessible to the largest number of
the general public, because this is to be the
people's hall, and only their frequent and
enthusiastic use of it will fulfill its purpose.
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Fifth: Motor transportation--A location should be

chosen where automobiles can be accommodated on

occasions when thousands of people wish to come to

the hall within a given hour, and disperse

gimultaneously.

Sixth: Hotels--It should be convenient to the

ma jority of hotels, for otherwise it would fail

as a convention hall, and without revenue grom that

source, might be too burdensome in upkeep. 5
For some two years the committee consisting of city
officials, architects, war veterans, and other citizens
examined the possibilities of where to locate a Memorial
Hall.

In the course of their efforts the committee

utilized the resources of two consultants, The first
of these we know of from earlier, He is Mr, Edward H.
Bennett of the firm Bennett, Parsons, Frost & Thomas,
site engineers with offices located in Chicago, Illinois.
Mr. Bennett was asked where he would locate a Memorial
Hall., In line with his other recommendations concerning
a center of Arts and Letters to be located out Woodward
between Warren Avenue and Grand Boulevard, he then felt
that such a structure would be appropriately located
there, In that manner'the Memorial Hall would be a part
of an impressive grouping of buildings. Mr. Bennett
further explained to the committee that he had not been

encouraged by the common council to seek a downtown ares

25Tbid., pp. 3-lL.
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location, In fact the common council in its earlier
proceedings had indicated no hope for the creation of a
new civic center in the downtown area,

In 1923 the initial report as previously sub-
mitted by Mr. Bennett to the council was withdrawn. The
spirit with which the new Site Selection Committee
pursued its goal, presumably allowed them to reconsider
the downtown area as a location for the proposed Memorial
Hall, One of the members of the committee being an
architect, approached the Michigan Chapter of the
American Institute of Architects for additional expertise
resources. The architects organization, ", . . prompted
by civic interest, volunteered through a member of the
committee to sponsor the bringing to Detroit of Mr,
Eliel Saarinen . . . 'world famous architect and city
planner' to make this study."26

The suggestion of the Michigan Chapter met with

approval on all sides; and through pledges of

funds to be privately raised, largely by the

Michigan Chapter, and in part by the Memorial

Hall Committee of Citizens and Veterans, this

additional professional talent of a high order

was brought to this problem under happy auspices.27
Mr,. Saarinen was directed to consider all possible sites

and more especially asked to give an opinion on the

foot of Woodward Avenue location., According to the

261pid., p. L.
2T1pid.
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Committees' report he did investigate independently
several possibilities of location, and of his own
choice concluded that the foot of Woodward Avenue loca-
tion was his choice. Mr. Saarinen's findings were
presented to the Michigan Chapter of the American
Institute of Architects, who then transmitted them with
full approval to the Memorial Hall subcommittee of site
selection,

One year later, 192, the Memorial Hall Site
Committee of Citizens and Veterans jointly submitted
recommendations as to the site, to the Common Council
of the City of Detroit. The committees' conclusions
were based on the aptness of the river front--foot of
Woodward Avenue site when measured by the six general
principles for site location., The joint committee
report, pointed out to the common council that three
metropolitan betterments could be united into one
harmoniously and also more economically if undertaken
at the above site. The three betterments consisted of
the Memorial Hall, waterfront reclamation, ". . . and

the third is a Civic Center, or an immediate lay-out for

one--a ground plan which gradually could accommodate a
dignified group of appropriate public buildings erected
as they may be needed--a Civic Center as distinct from

an Art Center."28

28Ibid., P. T
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The committee determined that the artistic
grouping of monumental buildings would provide not
only aesthetic beauty but also commercial value., The
committee went on to state that if the Memorial Hall is
to be placed as recommended,

e o o« the committee believes Detroit would wish
to see adopted at once a plan insuring a progres-
sive enlargement of this transformation to embrace
at least all that district from the river north
to and including the south side of Jefferson
Avenue, and all territory between Randolph Street
on the east and Shelby Street on the west, in all
twelve blocks of varying sizes, in which the city
already owns the majority of one block on the 5
river and parts of another bordering Jefferson. 9
The above described area is about 1,500 feet wide and
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